FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/19/2021 8:00 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

99438-2

Court of Appeal Cause No. 79700-0-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Seattle Housing And Resource Effort, Respondent

v.

Dameas Duranzan, Appellant

## PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dameas Duranzan 5043 15th Ave NE #2 Seattle, WA 98105 (253) 754-2047

##

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Dameas Duranzan, Plaintiff in the underlying case, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II of this petition.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On November 9, 2020, the Court of Appeals Division I, issued a decision affirming the trial court's decision that Mr. Duranzan was a tenant-at-will. (App. 1-7) On December 16, 2020, the Court of Appeals Division I, denied Mr. Duranzan's request for consideration. (App. 8)

### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, in affirming the trial court's determination that Plaintiffs are tenants-at-will, Division 1 determined RCW 59.18.040(8) and SMC 22.206.160 (C)(1)(g) are meaningless and/or superfluous.

Secondly, whether, in affirming the trial court's determination, Division 1 determined the restrictive covenants and definitions outlined in the Seattle Levy Agreement are unenforceable or irrelevant at summary judgment.

## IV. STATEMENT OF CASE

## A. Duranzan's tenancy at the Bunkhouse, while working at Safe Haven and Storage Lockers for "rent"

Mr. Duranzan was a participant in SHARE's homeless shelter program before residing at Bunkhouse SHARE 2 located at 3516 S Juneau St, Seattle, WA 98118. His agreement with SHARE provided that he would work for SHARE 2 at Safe Haven in lieu of paying cash rent to SHARE. He was charged and paid a utility co-pay to SHARE. (CP 325) His wages were withheld by SHARE, "in lieu of rent." (CP 373)

Mr. Duranzan was assigned to work at Safe Haven, located at 2407 1st Ave, Seattle, WA 98121 but was subsequently reassigned to Storage Lockers located at 963 Mercer Street, Seattle, WA 98109, starting March 20, 2018. (CP 17)

## B. Mr. Duranzan and other Plaintiff initiate Macias Et Al suit

Mr. Duranzan and the other plaintiffs filed suit on August 6, 2018 alleging violations of Federal, State, and City housing ordinances, as well as discrimination and retaliation. A temporary restraining order was entered that day in ex parte protecting Plaintiffs from SHARE's efforts to engage in a self help eviction.

## C. SHARE's multiple summary judgment motions

Cross-motions for SHARE's second summary judgment were heard January 4, 2019, resulting in a ruling January 28, 2019, that Plaintiffs are tenants-at-will.

On March 4, 2019, on SHARE'S third summary judgment motion, the trial court granted SHARE the right to eject Plaintiffs from BHS2.

Mr. Duranzan Notice of Appeal was filed March 15, 2019.

## D. SHARE settles Labor and Industry Wage Claim

One of issues of disputed facts that had arisen regarding competing claims of unjust enrichment. (RP 7:19)

Final determinations were made by L&I and while SHARE initially sought an administrative hearing on the matter, SHARE ultimately settled for the full amount as determined by L&I on October 27, 2020. (App. 9-12)

## E. Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals' Decision came 13 days after SHARE had settled the L&I case. Division I's decision relied heavily on the definition of rent. Division I also relied extensively on cases that were not similarly situated and predate the RLTA/SJCEO. This case was and still is one of first impression that has no parallel.

Mr. Duranzan sought to bring these developments to the court's attention when he filed a motion to reconsider on November 30, 2020. Reconsideration was denied without explanation December 16, 2020.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case presented issues of first impression. Unlike the cases cited by Division 1, this case presents different issues from *Turner v White* or *Najewitz v Seattle*. Unlike Turner or Najewitz Plaintiffs did not live in, about or on the premise of where they worked. Turner, a farmhand living on White's farm, was the prevailing party when White sought damages including rent. Najewitz lived as a Caretaker/Security Guard at a city owned gravel pit, and sought damages for improvements he made on the property during his tenure and was unsuccessful.

These two cases predate the Residential Landlord Tenant Act and the Seattle Just Cause Eviction Ordinance enacted in 1973 and 1980 respectively. The RLTA and SJCEO have continued to evolve; the RLTA was amended in 2019 to expand the definition of rent.

As outlined above, Plaintiff's were tenants whose wages were withheld/deducted for rent at a property where they did not work. It is of importance to recognize the city in a levy agreement placed restrictive covenants and definitions for use of the property by Washington Housing

Equity Alliance. (CP 243) These definitions included rent, tenants and a plethora of tenancy related criteria. SHARE was aware of these covenants when they rented The Bunkhouse from Washington Housing Equity Alliance, as they had a copy available on site for tenants to review. The City of Seattle still provides funding under this levy agreement.

## A. Appellate Court decision is in conflict with Supreme Court Decision(s) and of the Court of Appeals

It is well settled that statutes must not be construed in a manner that renders any portion thereof meaningless or superfluous. *Stone v. Chelan County Sheriff's Dep't*, 110 Wash.2d 806, 810, 756 P.2d 736 (1988). This notion was further affirmed and cited in *Cockle v. Dept. of Labor and Industries* 142 Wash.2d 801, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)

The Legislature decided that landlords who provide auxiliary employment must condition that auxiliary employment be in or about the premises to be exempt from the RLTA. The legislature recently considered removing the exception as a whole, in SB 5600, but has not reduced the exemption to be solely conditioned on employment. ESSB 5600 added definitions of rent to, "include any charges for utilities" as specified in the final report. (App. 13-18) The same is said of the SJCEO and its most recent amendment in Ordinance 123564.

Here, Division I renders portions of the RLTA and SJCEO meaningless and superfluous by ignoring clearly defined legislative intent and plain meaning. Plaintiffs never worked in, about or on the premise where they resided.

In *Shafer v. Board of Trustees*, 76 Wn.App. 267 (Div. 1 1994), Division 1 found that: 1) extrinsic evidence was always admissible to understand the context of a restrictive covenant, even if the language of the covenant was not ambiguous; and 2) unambiguous language in a restrictive covenant will be enforced as written, unless its terms are unclear or susceptible to more than one reasonable meaning. 76 Wn.App. at 275. Similarly in *Thorstad v. Federal Way Water & Sewer*, 73 Wn.App. 638 (Div. 1 1994) Division 1 accepted extrinsic evidence of the contracting parties' intent, both before and after the execution of their agreement.

The Seattle Levy agreement predicated that SHARE could only use the Bunkhouse for low-income housing.

The restrictive covenants found in the Seattle Levy Agreement lead to this conclusion. The Bunkhouse property was for use as low income housing for tenants. SHARE screens all SHARE 2 residents to meet these low income criteria to abide by the restrictive covenants. It is reasonable to conclude SHARE must abide by the definitions set out in the

levy agreement in their sublet tenancies and that residency at Bunkhouse was at minimum a month to month tenancy as required by the levy agreement. The extrinsic evidence in both SHARE's representation to L&I and the funding received by SHARE under the levy agreement lead to this same conclusion.

In Hall v. Custom Craft Fixtures, Inc., 87 Wn.App. 1 (Div. 2 1997), the former officer of a company sued his former employer for compensation and bonuses he contended were due under a written employment agreement. Adhering to the "four corners" of the written employment agreement which, in the trial court's words, contained "not even a hint" of any contrary intent, the trial court summarily dismissed the CEO's complaint against his former employer. The Court of Appeals, however, looked at correspondence exchanged by the parties, saw surrounding circumstances that suggested (objectively speaking) two competing but equally reasonable interpretations of their contract, and reversed the summary judgment.

The existence of restrictive covenants, the screening of SHARE 2 residents for compliance with the levy agreement requirements, mixed with any confusion of an employment contract leads to the conclusion summary judgment must be overturned or at the minimum remanded for further proceedings in light of the evidence available at the time of the

hearing. This conclusion is further enhanced by the new developments that have occurred since trial.

## B. The case involves a substantial and compelling public interest.

The Courts will be facing an unprecedented number of evictions in the coming months. This case could set a precedent that would protect low-income tenants and unhoused persons from continued exploitation at the hands of agencies who seek to avoid the protections offered to tenants by claiming their tenants are "employees". The Trial Court in this case will rely on this decision in determining damages, including Respondent's recent threat on December 16, 2020 to seek damages for, "rent."

This case will have direct impact on the way evictions and ejectments are currently conducted by clarifying the rights of tenants, landlords, efforts to circumvent the RLTA/SJCEO, and the responsibilities of trial judges.

### VI. CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the petition for review should be granted.