# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/30/2021 2:52 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 99438-2 (COA No. 79700-0-I)

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Dameas Duranzan,

Petitioner,

v.

Seattle Housing and Resource Effort (S.H.A.R.E.),

Respondent.

## S.H.A.R.E.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 Scott R. Weaver, WSBA No. 29267

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 Attorneys for Respondent

# **

B.	Procedural Facts
III.	REST	ATEMENT OF ISSUES
IV.	REAS	ONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 4
	A.	Review Should Be Denied Because The RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Criteria Have Not Been Met 4
	В.	Review Should Be Denied Because The Petition Does Not Present Any Issues Of State-Wide Importance This Court Needs To Address
V.	CONC	CLUSION8

# APPENDIX A

	Page(s)
March 4, 2019, ejectment order, CP 302-312	to A-11

#### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s) Washington Cases, Statutes, & Court Rules **Washington Cases** Duranzan v. Seattle Housing And Resource Effort, 15 Wn.App.2d 1011, 2020 WL 6561304......passim **Statutes and Court Rules** 1973 Landlord Tenant Act (RLTA)......5-6 RCW 59.18.030(28)......6 SMC 22.206.160(C)(1)(g) ......6-7 RAP 13.4(b)(1) .......4-5 RAP 13.4(b)(2) ......4-5 RAP 13.4(b)(4). ...... 5, 7

#### I. INTRODUCTION

This case arises from the trial court's March, 4, 2019, order granting Respondent Seattle Housing and Resource Effort (S.H.A.R.E.) ("SHARE")'s third summary judgment motion and evicting Petitioner Dameas Duranzan ("Petitioner") and other employees from SHARE housing following events in the summer of 2018. Petitioner was the only former employee-plaintiff who appealed. After the commissioner denied a stay of the order of eviction, the matter was briefed and considered on the merits. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court by a unanimous decision filed November 9, 2020, *Duranzan v. Seattle Housing And Resource Effort*, 15 Wn.App.2d 1011, 2020 WL 6561304 ("Decision").

The panel considered Petitioner's arguments and, in a well-reasoned decision by Judge Leach: 1) affirmed the trial court's rulings that Petitioner was a tenant at will; and 2) affirmed the order evicting Petitioner from housing provided by SHARE's housing-for-work program. The Decision explained that the rulings are consistent with applicable law.

The Petition basically argues that the Decision failed to correctly apply the statutes because it did not decide the appeal in Petitioner's favor, and asserts new arguments not previously raised. First, the Petition is wrong because the Decision correctly applied the applicable statute and ordinance. Second, the Petition does not meet the criteria of Title 13. There are no conflicts with published appellate authority nor state-wide issues that require this Court's resources to resolve.

The Petition should be denied.

#### II. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Overview.

SHARE is a non-profit homeless shelter with locations all over Seattle. It is a peer run organization, *i.e.*, it is run, managed, and operated by persons who, for the most part, are or were once homeless themselves. SHARE created a program whereby competent and sober homeless persons can work approximately eight hours *per week* at the various shelters. Pursuant to their employment agreement, in exchange for the work, the employee is provided with a private bedroom at one of its shelters. Also pursuant to the employment agreement, the employment and rooming situation can be immediately terminated for cause.

Petitioner, along with other SHARE employees, was terminated for cause during the summer of 2018. They were directed to vacate the Premises by SHARE, but refused. Petitioner, a very experienced and regular litigant, initiated the first legal action against SHARE. Soon other former employees filed actions, SHARE answered and filed counterclaims, and the various matters were consolidated. Petitioner and the other ex-employees sought to stop SHARE from evicting or ejecting them, along with other remedies including damages.

Numerous court appointed and non-profit attorneys appeared for Petitioner and the other plaintiffs below – Petitioner and his fellow plaintiffs were well represented in the trial court. The various counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Dameas Duranzan v. Sheri Rowe (18-2-17523-2), Macias v. S.H.A.R.E. (18-2-19695-7) and Macias v. Rowe (18-2-18524-6). All of those matters were consolidated into (18-2-19695-7). Only Petitioner's case proceeded beyond the trial court.

brought summary judgment motions on behalf of the other plaintiffs, which Petitioner joined.<sup>2</sup>

#### **B.** Procedural Facts.

The Court of Appeals succinctly detailed the procedural context:

Seattle Housing and Resource Effort (SHARE) is a non-profit homeless shelter and a housing-for-work program. Bunkhouse SHARE 2 (BHS2) is an 8-unit single family duplex that houses low-income and homeless tenants. Residents of BHS2 resided there in exchange for work performed with SHARE. Residents paid monthly utility co-payments.

Between July and August 2018, SHARE agents terminated Dameas Duranzan, Brett Gaspard, Emily Walker, and Joshua Dennard (residents) from employment and housing with SHARE. The residents refused to vacate and sued for declarative and injunctive relief to prevent their eviction. The trial court consolidated their cases.

SHARE asked the court to dismiss the residents' claims on summary judgment. The trial court denied this request but stated SHARE could bring a later summary judgment on the issue of ejectment "as long as the legal basis is something other than one of the exemptions under RCW 59.18.040 that was argued" previously. SHARE later filed another summary judgment request. The trial court granted SHARE's request in part finding the residents were "tenants at will" and not periodic tenants, and the residents' housing with SHARE was not subject to Seattle's Just Cause Eviction Ordinance. It denied SHARE's request based on unjust enrichment and denied the residents' request for summary judgment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For instance, Attorneys Clausen and Gill appeared at different times for Petitioner. The Northwest Justice Project ("NWJP") appeared for a number of the plaintiffs and handled the great bulk of all briefing and argument in opposition to SHARE's multiple summary judgment motions. None appeared in the appeal, or took their own appeal.

Trial court hearings were often packed with the array of attorneys representing Petitioner, other plaintiffs, and SHARE, the plaintiffs and Petitioner themselves, support canines, and various interested persons from SHARE.

SHARE made a third request for summary judgment. Before the court hearing on this request, Duranzan's court appointed counsel Paul Gill asked the court to let him withdraw as Duranzan's counsel. On March 4, 2019, the trial court granted SHARE's third summary judgment request and ordered entry of final judgment on the ejectment claim only. The trial court then allowed Gill to withdraw as counsel.<sup>3</sup>

Decision, Slip Op. at 1-2. *See* App. A, March 4, 2019, ejectment order, CP 302-312. Petitioner's immediate motion for a stay at the Court of Appeals was denied by the commissioner, and he then sought a stay in the trial court which was also denied. CP 1413-1416.

The writ of ejectment was issued and executed upon by the sheriff, who filed the returns of the ejectments on March 27, 2019, one year before the pandemic began. CP 1203-1242. *See* Brief of Respondent, p. 5. Petitioner has now been out of the premises for over two years.<sup>4</sup>

#### III. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Should review be denied where none of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) are met and the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law?

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Review Should Be Denied Because The RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Criteria Have Not Been Met.

RAP 13.4(b) states that review will be accepted "*only*" if the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals, or raises a significant

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioner raised a claim of alleged ineffectiveness of counsel in his appeal and the Decision disposed of it. The Petition does not raise it, so it is not before the Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> When the parties mediated the dispute in the summer of 2020, Petitioner was not homeless but was living in an apartment on Capital Hill in Seattle.

question of law under the state or federal Constitutions, or involves an issue of substantial public interest that this Court needs to resolve. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). The Petition does not raise any constitutional issue, instead arguing primarily that the Decision conflicts with state appellate decisions. There is no such conflict. Petitioner just does not like how the Decision applied the statutes.

The Petition takes issue with the Court of Appeals' straightforward application of RCW 59.18.040(8) of the 1973 Landlord Tenant Act and a municipal ordinance, SMC § 22.206(c)(1)(g), claiming the Decision misconstrued both in finding he was a tenant at will. *See* Petition at p. 1.

In fact, the Decision correctly applied the terms of the statute and ordinance in conjunction with *Turner v. White*, 20 Wn.App. 290, 579 P.2d 410 (1978),<sup>5</sup> to confirm the trial court ruling that Petitioner, and the other resident employees, were tenants at will. The Decision noted that the duties owed to a tenant by a landlord "depend on a tenant's classification":

In *Turner v. White*, an employer allowed its employee to live rent free on employer owned property in exchange for his work. The court there held the employee was a tenant at will where "the tenant had come upon the premises with the permission of the owner, the tenancy was terminable without notice and provided for no monthly or periodic payments." Just as in *Turner*, the residents here had permission to be on the premises in exchange for services provided, the tenancy was terminable without notice, and the residents provided no periodic rent payments. So, the trial court correctly decided Duranzan was a tenant at will.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> *Turner* applied this Court's decision in *Najewitz v. Seattle*, 21 Wn.2d 656, 152 P.2d 722 (1944), which Respondent relied on in its merits briefing in discussing tenancies at will. *See* Response Brief of Respondent, pp. 11-16.

SHARE required Duranzan to pay a utility co-payment. Duranzan also asserts "[u]nder the RLTA utility payments are rent." But, the RLTA does not say this.

RCW 59.18.030(28) states, "'[r]ent' or 'rental amount' means recurring and periodic charges identified in the rental agreement for the use and occupancy of the premises, which may include charges for utilities." This means rent may include utilities but does not mean a charge for only utilities is rent. Duranzan's assertion fails.

Decision, Slip Op. at 3-4 (footnotes omitted). *See* SHARE's response brief below, pp. 11-16, analyzing why Petitioner was a tenant at will.

The Petition contends that neither *Turner* nor *Najewitz* apply because they predate the applicable statutes<sup>6</sup> and the parties in those cases lived at the location where they worked for their rent. First, both cases addressed common law tenants at will with rent forgiveness arising out of employment for the owner-landlords in question. Second, nothing in the statutes precludes the result reached by the trial court and in the Decision. In addition to the analysis of the RLTA quoted *supra*, the Decision rejected Petitioner's claim the ordinance precluded his eviction with a statutory analysis measured against the undisputed facts:

MC 22.206.160(C)(1)(g) provides:

The reasons for termination of tenancy listed below, and no others, shall constitute just cause under this Section 22.206.160:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Turner is a 1978 case and thus, decided after the 1973 Residential Landlord Tenant Act. That it addressed the unlawful detainer statute and not the RLTA does not undercut its use of the common law tenancy at will concept, nor its proper application here. As Judge Leach noted in the Decision, the duties owed depend on the tenant's classification.

(g) The tenant's occupancy is conditioned upon employment on the property and the employment relationship is terminated....

SHARE presented unchallenged evidence that Duranzan's occupancy of its property was conditioned on his employment by SHARE and that this occupancy right terminated upon the termination of his employment. In his complaint, Duranzan admitted that previously SHARE employed him, terminated him on July 13, 2018, and required him to vacate its property. So, SHARE presented unchallenged evidence satisfying the requirements of SMC 22.206.160(C)(1)(g) as just cause for terminating a tenancy.

Decision, Slip Op. at p. 5. *See also* SHARE's response brief below at pp. 18-23, describing how the statutes in question encompassed an employee like Petitioner whose residence was in one location while he performed the work for his rent in another location owned by his employer/landlord, SHARE.

B. Review Should Be Denied Because The Petition Does Not Present Any Issues Of State-Wide Importance This Court Needs To Address.

The Petition also does not present this Court with a state-wide issue that urgently needs to be resolved by this Court per RAP 13.4(b)(4). There is no evidence in the record of "an unprecedented number of evictions in the coming months" (Petition at 8), only an unsupported argument. It is pure speculation.

Moreover, had there been a genuine concern of injustice and exploitation of such employees by non-profit homeless shelters, the lawyers and agencies who were deeply involved in the trial court for the other plaintiffs would have appealed such an unjust result for their clients.

They did not. Instead, the writ of ejectment was issued and executed upon by the sheriff in March of 2019, one year before the pandemic.

The fact that the other evicted employees and their counsel did not appeal the evictions confirms there is no statewide issue that needs this Court's immediate attention.

## V. CONCLUSION

Respondent SHARE respectfully asks the Court to deny review.